MARK K. SCHONFELD (MS-2798)
REGIONAL DIRECTOR
Attorney for Plaintiff
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Northeast Regional Office
3 World Financial Center; Room 4300
New York, N.Y. 10281-1022
(212) 336-1020

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

U.S.D.C. S.D. N.Y. CASHIERS

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

Plaintiff.

05

CV

8656

-against-

THEODORE CHARLES SIHPOL III,

Defendant.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission ("Commission"), for its Complaint against Theodore Charles Sihpol III ("Sihpol" or "Defendant"), alleges as follows:

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. Sihpol, formerly a registered representative with Banc of America Securities LLC ("BAS"), played a key role in enabling certain hedge fund customers of BAS to engage in "late trading" in shares of mutual funds sold by BAS and others. Late trading refers to the practice of placing orders to buy or redeem mutual fund shares after the close of trading as of 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time ("ET"), but receiving the price based on the prior net asset value ("NAV") already determined as of 4:00 p.m. Late trading violates the federal securities laws concerning the price at which mutual fund shares must be bought or redeemed and defrauds innocent investors in those mutual funds by giving to the late trader an advantage not available to other investors. By

virtue of his conduct, Defendant violated and/or aided and abetted and caused violations of the antifraud and broker-dealer record-keeping provisions of the federal securities laws.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

- 2. The Commission brings this action pursuant to the authority conferred upon it by Section 20 of the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act"), 15 U.S.C. § 77t, and Section 21 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act"), 15 U.S.C. § 78u, seeking civil monetary penalties.
- 3. The Defendant, directly and indirectly, has used the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the mails, or of the facilities of a national securities exchange, in connection with the transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business alleged herein.
- 4. Certain of these transactions, acts, practices and courses of business occurred in the Southern District of New York, including conduct by the defendant at BAS's offices in New York, New York.
- 5. Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction over this action, and venue is proper in this district, pursuant to Sections 20 and 22 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77t and 77v, and Sections 21 and 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u and 78aa.

<u>DEFENDANT</u>

6. Sihpol, age 38, resides in New Canaan, Connecticut. Sihpol holds Series 7, 63, and 66 licenses with the National Association of Securities Dealers. During the conduct at issue, Sihpol was a registered representative in BAS's high-net worth group located in New York, New York.

RELATED ENTITIES

- 7. BAS, a registered broker-dealer, is a full-service U.S. investment bank and brokerage firm with principal offices in San Francisco, California, New York, New York, and Charlotte, North Carolina. BAS is also registered as an investment adviser pursuant to the Advisers Act. BAS is a subsidiary of Bank of America Corporation ("BAC"), a bank and financial holding company incorporated in Delaware with its principal place of business in Charlotte. Other BAC subsidiaries, Banc of America Advisors, LLC and Banc of America Capital Management, LLC, both located in Charlotte, managed and advised the Nations Funds family of funds. Nations Fund, Inc., incorporated in Maryland, is a registered investment company organized as a series company and is the issuer of the shares of the Nations Funds.
- 8. At all relevant times, Canary Capital Partners, LLC, was a domestic hedge fund, and Canary Capital Partners, Ltd., was an offshore hedge fund domiciled in Bermuda, managed by an investment adviser Canary Investment Management, LLC, and its principal, Edward J. Stern (collectively, "Canary"). Canary had offices in Secaucus, New Jersey.

SIHPOL'S FRAUD

Background - Late Trading

9. Rule 22c-1(a) under the Investment Company Act requires any registered investment company issuing redeemable securities, its principal underwriter, any dealers in its shares, and any person designated in the fund's prospectus as authorized to consummate transactions in securities issued by the fund to sell and redeem fund shares at a price based on the current net asset value ("NAV") next computed after receipt of an order to buy or redeem.

Mutual funds generally determine the NAV of mutual fund shares as of 4:00 p.m. eastern time

- ("ET"). In these circumstances, orders received by the entities identified in Rule 22c-1 before 4:00 p.m. must be executed at the price determined as of 4:00 p.m. that day. Orders received by these entities after 4:00 p.m. must be executed at the price determined as of 4:00 p.m. the next trading day.
- 10. Mutual fund prospectuses typically identify the time as of which the NAV is determined for purposes of pricing fund shares for purchases and redemptions. For example, the August 1, 2001 prospectus for Nations Funds Primary A Shares indicates that orders received "before the end of a business day (usually 4:00 p.m. Eastern time, unless the NYSE closes early) will receive that day's net asset value per share. Orders received after the end of a business day will receive the next business day's net asset value per share."
- 11. "Late trading" refers to the practice of placing orders to buy or redeem mutual fund shares after the time as of which a mutual fund has calculated its NAV (usually as of the close of trading at 4:00 p.m. ET), but receiving the price based on the prior NAV already determined as of 4:00 p.m. Late trading enables the trader to profit from market events that occur after 4:00 p.m. but that are not reflected in that day's price. In particular, the late trader obtains an advantage at the expense of the other shareholders of the mutual fund when he learns of market moving information and is able to purchase (or redeem) mutual fund shares at prices set *before* the market moving information was released.
- 12. Late trading violates Rule 22c-1(a) under the Investment Company Act, defrauds innocent shareholders in those mutual funds by giving to the late trader an advantage not available to other shareholders, and harms shareholders when late trading dilutes the value of

their shares.

Sihpol Enabled Canary to Engage in Late Trading

of Nations Funds and other mutual funds. Specifically, Sihpol enabled Canary to place orders to buy or redeem mutual fund shares that were received by and cleared through BAS until 6:30 p.m., but that received the price previously determined as of 4:00 p.m. that day (rather than the price determined as of 4:00 p.m. the next day). Canary did, in fact, place orders after 4:00 p.m. to buy and redeem mutual fund shares that received the price previously determined as of 4:00 p.m. on the day of the order. In the process, Sihpol falsified, altered, destroyed, or evaded the creation of, books and records that BAS was required accurately to create, maintain and preserve.

Origins of the Relationship Between Canary and BAS

- 14. In or around April 2001, Stern met with Sihpol concerning Canary potentially trading mutual funds through BAS, a dealer in fund shares and also a clearing broker. Stern outlined Canary's approach to timing mutual funds. "Timing" includes the practice of short term buying and redeeming mutual fund shares in order to exploit inefficiencies in mutual fund pricing. Stern asked if Canary would be allowed to time the Nations Funds family. Sihpol agreed to check and get back to Canary.
- 15. Sihpol and other BAS representatives met with Stern and Canary traders again in or around April 2001 to discuss Stern's proposal. The parties discussed Canary's mutual fund trading strategy, timing certain Nations Funds and other funds and BAS financing Canary's trading.

- 16. In that meeting, BAS representatives offered to install an electronic trading system in Canary's offices that would enable Canary to bypass BAS brokers and enter trades directly to BAS's clearing function. They also explained that, by using the electronic system, Canary would be able to enter its trades until 6:30 p.m. ET. They also stated that, through the electronic system, Canary would be able to trade numerous other mutual funds that BAS distributed.
- 17. Canary confirmed an agreement in a May 1, 2001 letter from Stern to Sihpol. First, Stern identified the Nations Funds he wanted to time and the dollar amounts of timing for each fund. Next, Stern confirmed that initially Canary would execute late trades by calling or faxing the trades to Sihpol or his team, and later Canary would use the electronic system:

We plan on transacting our trades manually at first (via Fax), at a time of day that is a little bit earlier than [one of the clearing representatives] specified in our first meeting. As soon as we can work out our lending arrangement with the bank and begin transacting electronically via ADP [i.e., the BAS electronic system], we will draw down leverage against the capital we have deployed in the Nations funds, effectively increasing our trading capital with your firm to \$32 million. If all goes well, this capital should grow larger as we get a sense of what trades can and cannot be done via the Banc of America Securities Platform. We really would like to get going with ADP and begin trading electronically as soon as possible.

"Manual" Late Trading at BAS

18. In or around May 2001, Canary began to late trade the Nations Funds. At first, Canary conducted its late trading "manually." In the manual stage, Canary was able to engage in late trading primarily because Sihpol and his team falsified BAS's books and records. Prior to 4:00 p.m. ET, a Canary trader would send Sihpol or a member of his team a series of "proposed" mutual fund trades by e-mail or facsimile. Upon receipt, Sihpol, or a member of his team acting

upon his instructions, would fill out an order ticket, time stamp it, and set it to one side until that evening.

19. Sometime after 4:00 p.m. ET, a Canary trader would telephone Sihpol or a member of his team, and would either confirm or cancel the "proposed" trades. If confirmed, Sihpol's team would fax the order (with its pre-4:00 p.m. time stamp and no post-4:00 p.m. time stamp) to BAS's clearing department for processing. As a result, Canary would receive that day's NAV. If Canary cancelled the "order," Sihpol or a member of his team would discard the ticket.

Late Trading Through BAS's Electronic System

- 20. In the summer of 2001, BAS technicians installed the direct access system in Canary's offices. Through this system, Canary was able to enter its trades directly into BAS's clearing function until 6:30 p.m. ET.
- 21. After a Canary trader entered the trades directly into the system, the trader would print out a document confirming the trades and the time (after 4 p.m.) that the trades had been entered. The trader then faxed the document to Sihpol or a member of his team. The following day, Sihpol or a member of his team would use this document to reconcile Canary's trades. Once the trades were reconciled, Sihpol or a member of his team discarded the document.
- 22. From the summer of 2001 until the summer of 2003, Canary used the electronic system to late trade. Canary also late traded "manually" whenever there were technical problems with the electronic system. BAS technicians also installed a second direct access system in the residence of a Canary trader, which also was used to late trade.

- 23. The electronic system enabled Canary to late trade the Nations Funds and in the many other mutual funds for which BAS was a dealer. By using the electronic system, Canary was able to send orders directly to BAS's clearing function, circumventing the normal trading process in which each brokerage order must be properly documented, including the time the order was received.
- 24. Canary paid BAS a so-called "wrap fee" of one percent of the Canary assets in Nations Funds and one-half of one percent of the assets in other funds traded through the electronic link. Sihpol received a portion of this wrap fee. In addition, Canary agreed to leave millions of dollars invested in Nations Funds on a long-term basis. Canary also paid interest and other charges to BAS and its affiliates. Canary also paid fees for the installation and maintenance of the electronic system.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)

- 25. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference herein each and every allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 24.
- 26. As a result of the conduct described above, Sihpol willfully violated Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a), in that he, by the use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or by the use of the mails, directly or indirectly, in the offer or sale of securities, employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; obtained money or property by means of untrue statements of material fact or omissions to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or engaged in transactions, practices or courses of

business which operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon purchasers or prospective purchasers of such securities, as described above.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15. U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, thereunder

- 27. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference herein each and every allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 24.
- As a result of the conduct described above, Sihpol willfully violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15. U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, thereunder in that he, in connection with the purchase or sale of securities, directly or indirectly, by the use of the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the mails, employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; made untrue statements of material fact or omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or engaged in acts, practices, or courses of business which operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchasers of the securities, as described above.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Section 17(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §78q(a), and Rules 17a-3 and 17a-4, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.17a-3 and 240.17a-4 thereunder

29. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference herein each and every allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 24.

30. As a result of the conduct described above, Sihpol willfully aided and abetted and caused BAS's violations of Section 17(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §78q(a), and Rules 17a-3 and 17a-4 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.17a-3 and 240.17a-4, which require registered brokers and dealers to make and keep current, and preserve, books and records relating to their brokerage business.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests a Final Judgment ordering Sihpol to pay a civil monetary penalty pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d); and Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3).

Dated: New York, New York October /2, 2005

Mark K. Schonfeld (MS-2798)
Regional Director
Attorney for Plaintiff
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Northeast Regional Office
3 World Financial Center; Room 4300
New York, N.Y. 10281-1022
(212) 336-1020

Of Counsel:

Valerie A. Szczepanik Christopher M. Bruckmann